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@ongress of the TUnited States
Waghington, B.C.

January 29, 2003

The Honorable George J. Tenet
Director of Central Intelligence
Washington, DC 20505

Dear Director Tenet:

As you know, the final report of the Joint Inquiry into the events of September 11
has been submitted to the Intelligence Community for declassification review. We look

forward to early release of the public report so that efforts at reforms can be
accslerated.

Having been privileged to lead this bipartisan, bicameral investigation last year,
we are commitied to working in the curent Congress to help secure implementation of
its recommendations. In furtherance of that goal, we are writing to the President and
heads of depantments and agencles about portions of the Joint Inquiry's
recommendations that may be of particular concem to them,

Our first recommendation calls for establishment of a Director of National
intelligence, or DNI, who in addition to being the President’s principal intslligence
adviser “shall hava the full range of management, budgetary and personnel
responsibilities needed 10 make the U.S. Inteligence Community operate as a coherent
whole." To help promota both strong leadership of the entire inteligence Community
leadership and an effective CIA, the Joint Inquiry also recoermmended that Congress
provide that the DNI not simultaneously serve as director of the CIA or any other
agency. In considering this recommendation, the Congress will certainly, wa believe,
benefit from leaming of your.views abaut the strengthening of the role of head of the
intelligence Community.

A number of the recommendations that follow address proposed tasks of the
Director of Naticnal Intslligence, but as that reform will require study and deliberation,
for the immediate future those further recommendations are directed to the Director of
Central Intelligance as the present statutory head of the intelligence Community.

The Joint Inquiry found that prior to September 11 neither the U.S. Govemment
88 a whole nor the Intelligence Community had a comprahensive counterterrorist
strategy. One of cur recommendations calls on the National Security Cauncil, in
conjunction with key agency and department heads, to prepare such a strategy for the
Preskient's approval. The recommendation states that the strategy should be
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"government wide,” apply both “home and abroad,” and include “the growing terrorism
threat posed by the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction and asscciated
technologies.” The recommendation asks that this strategy identify and fully engage the
intelligence as well as foreign policy, economic, military and law enforcement elements
that are “critical to a comprehensive blueprint for success in the war against terrorism.”
The Directar of Central intelligence's full participation in this overall process will be
essential, as will the DCI's development of the Intelligence Community component of
the full strategy. The Joint Inquiry recommended that the Intelligence Community’s
component of the overall strategy include a number of important items, among them
development of human sources to penetrate terrorist organizations and networks.

To provide to the Congress and Executive Branch policymakers intelligence
eslimates on terrorism, the Joint Inquiry has recommended establishment on the
National Intelligence Council of the position of National Intelligence Officer for
Termrorism. The recommendation suggests that the person holding this position also
assist the Intelligence Community in developing a program for strategic analysis.

Another recommendation addresses the need for Congress and the
Administration to ensure development within the Department of Homeland Security of
an effective all-source terrorism information fusion center, as mandated by the
Homeland Security Act of 2002. The success of that fuslon center will depend, as the
recommendation states, on the center's “full and timely access to all counterterrorism-
related intelligence information, including ‘raw’ supporting data as needed.” Your action
to ensure full cooperation batween the entire intelligence Community (including, of
course, the CIA) and the Department of Homeland Security will be fundamental to the
success of this vital reform. We applaud the President’s announcement of the
establishment of a new Terrorist Threat Integration Center, which we understand will be
located under the Director of Central Intelligence. The important challenge, we believe,
is to assure the full and harmmonious implementation of both the information fusion
requirement of the Homeland Security Act and the center that the President announced.

The recommendations include a list of significant reforms that the intelligence
Committees believe are essential for strengthening the FBI's domestic intefligence
capability. In regard to these critically needed reforms, the Joint inquiry has
recommended that Congress should direct that the head of the Intelligence Community,
together with the Attorney General and the Secretary of Homeland Security, should
report to Congress on the FBI's progress. The report should include "the specific
manner in which a new domestic intelligence service could be established in the United
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States, recognizing the need to enhance nationa!l security while fully protecting civil
liberties.”

The Committees expressed their strong conviction that “the Intelligence
Community's employees remain its greatest rasource.” They recommend that the head
of the intelligence Community “should require that measures be Impiemented to greatly
enhance the recruitment and development of a workforce with the intelligenca skills and
expertise needed for success in counterterrorist efforts.” Several particular actions are
set forth in the recommendation. One is that Intelligence Community agencies should
expand and improve counterterrorism training, induding about information sharing
among law enforcement and intelligence personnel, the use of the Foreign Inteiligence
Surveillance Act, and watchlisting. The recommendation includes steps to improve
Intelligence Community language capabilities and the utilization of the skills and
experience of retired personnel. it calls on the Intelligence Community to “enhance
recruitment of @ more ethnically and culturally diverse workforce.”

A further personnel recommendation proposes, in part, that Congress enact
legisiation, modsted on the landmark Goldwater-Nichols Department of Defense
Reorganization Act of 1986, to help instill the concept of “jointness” throughout the
Intelligence Community and ensure that its components will work more closely together
than has been the case. The mechanisms identified in the recommendation include
such things as joint tours for intelligence and law enforcement personnel as well as
incentives for joint servica throughout the intelligance Community. in developing these
ideas, Congress would benefit from the Administration’s detailed proposals.

The Joint Inquiry identified several impartant abjectives conceming classified
information, including expanding access by federal agencies outside the Intelligence
Community, by state and local authorities, and by the American public. To this end, we
recommended that the Director of Central Inteligence, in consultation with the heads of
key components of the Inteliigence Community, including the Attlorney General, should
report to the Intelligence Committees on “proposals for a new and more realistic
approach to the processes and structures that have governed the designation of
sensitive and classifled information.® The report should also address “proposals to

protect against the use of the classification process as a shield to protect agency self-
interest.”

The Congress and the Nation as a whole will be grateful for your attention and
response lo these and other matters identified in the course of the Joint Inquiry.
Further, we are confident that the Congress will benefit from other recommendations
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that you might have for legisiative or administrative action to improve the Nation's

counterterrorist capabilities.

T

Bob Graham
Chairman, Senate Intelligence
Comrnittee, 107™ Congress

Plds la%y
Richard Shalby

Vice Chairman, Senate Intefligence
Committes, 107" Congress

Enclosure: As stated

Sincerely, /

Porter G

Chairman, House Intelligence

Committee, 107 and 108™
Congressas

) ooy Eboon

Nancy Pelosi

Ranking Minority Member, House

intefligence Committee, 107" Congress

and Member ex officio (as Mincrity
Leader), 108™ Congrass
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PART FOUR—FINDING, DISCUSSION AND NARRATIVE REGARDING CERTAIN
SENSITIVE NATIONAL SECURITY MATTERS

20. Finding: While in the United States, some of the September 11 hijackers were in
contact with, and received support or assistance from, individuals who may be covpected to
the Saudi Covernmeut. There is information, primarily from FBI sources, that at least two
of those individuals were alleged by some to be Szudi intelligence officers. The Joint
Inquiry’s review confirmed that the Intelligence Community alse has information, much of
which has yet to be independently verified, indicating that individuals associated with the
Saudi Government in the United States may have other ties to al-Qn’ida a2od other terrorist
groups. The FBI and CIA bave informed the Joint Inquiry that, since the September 11
attacks, they are treating the Saudi issue seriously, but both still have only a limited
understanding of the Saudi Government’s ties to terrorist elements. In their testimony,
neither CIA nor FBI witnesses were able to identify definitively the extent of Saudi support
for terrorist activity globally or within the United States and the extent to which such
support, if it exists, is knowing or inadvertent in nature. The FBI's Washington Field
Office created a squad devoted to [
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at Jeast in part due to the Joint Inquiry’s focus on this issue, did the FFBI and CIA establish
a working group to address the Saudi issue, In the view of the Joint Inquiry, this gap in
1J.S. intelligence caverage is unacceptable, given the magnitude and immediacy of the
potential risk to U.S. national security, The Intelligence Conununity needs to address this

area of concern as aggressively and as quickly as possible.

Discussion: One reason for the limited understanding is that it was only after September

11 that the U.S. Govermnent began to aggressively investigate this issuc. Prior to September

11" the FBI apparently did not focus investigalive resources on—

B S i nation:ls in the United States due to Saudi Arabia's status as an Amedcan

“ally® A representative of the FBI—:stiﬁ:d tnat, prior to
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September 11, 2001, the FBI received “no reporting from any member of the Intelligence
Community” that there was 2 || presence in the United States.

According to vanous FBI documents and at least one ClA memorandum, some of the
September 11 hijackers, while in the United States, 2pparcntly had contacts with individuals who
mzy be connected o the Sauds Government. While the Joint Inquiry uncovered this matenal
during the course ol 1ts review of FBI and CIA documents, it did not attemipt 1o investigatc znd
assess the accuracy and significance of this information independently, recognizing that such 2
lask wouid be beyond the scope of this Jomnt Inquiry. Instead, the Joint Inquiry referred a
detailed compilation of information uncoversd by the Inguiry in documents and interviews to the
FBIand CIA for further investigation by the Intelligence Community and, if appropriate, law
enforcement agencies. A brief sumnmary of the available information regarding some of these

individuals is illustrative for purposes of this report:

» Omar al-Bayoumi. The FBI has received numerous reports from individuals in the
Musliin eommunity, dating back to 1999, allegung thet al-Bayoumi may be a Sandi
intelligence officer. FBL files suggest that al-Bayoumi provided substantial assistance to
Iijackers Khalid al-Mihdhar and NMawaf al-Hazmi after they arrived i San Diego in
February 2000. Al-Bayoumi met thie hijackers at a public place shortiy after his meeting
with an individual at the Saudi consulate and there are indicztions in the files that his
encounter with the hijackers may not have been accidental, Dunng this sume timeframe,
al-Bayoumi had extensive contact with Saudi Government esteblislinents in the United
States and received financial support from & Saudi company affiliated with the Saudi
Ministry of Defense. According ta FBI files, [l 2t the company said that al-
Bayoumi received a monthly salary even though he had been there on only one vecasion.
This support increased substantially in April 2000, two morths after the hijackers arrived
in San Diego, decreased slightly in December 2000, and stayed at that seme level until
August 2001, That company repertedly had ties to Usamz Bin Ladin and al-Qa'ida. In
addition, the FBI datermined that al- Bayoumi was in contact with several individuals
under FBI investigation and with the Holy Land Foundation, which has been under

investigation as a fundraising front for Hamas;
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» (sama Bassnan. Bassnan may have been in contact with al-Mihdhar and al-Hazmi
duﬁng their time in San Diego. Bassnan was a close associate of al-Bayoumi and Omar
Bakarbashat, another one of the hijackers’ close associates. He also lived across the
street from the hijackers, and made a comment o an F3I asset that he dic more than al-
Bayoumi did for the hijackers. According to an FBI document, Basnan told another
individual that he met al-Hazmi through al-Bayoun: and later that he met two of the
hijackers through al-Bayoumi. He also told the asset that al-Bavoumi was amested
becanse he knew al-Hazmi and el-Mihsdhur very well. The document goes on to state that
Bassnan and al-Bayoumi have been “close to each other for = long time." Bessnan has

many ties to the Saudi Govemnment, including past employment by the Szudi Arabian

Education Mission, referred to in FBI documents as [
S, 2! i wccivd gt fom

individuals in the Muslim community alleging that Bassnan might be 2 Saudi intelligence
officer. According to a CIA memo, Bassnan reportedly received funding and possibly a
fake passport from Saudi Government officials, He and his wife have received financial
support from the Szudi Ambassador to the United States and his wifc A ClA report alse
indicates that Bassnar traveled to Houston m 2002 and met with an individual who was
(75 o R T e e R e M VR
- The report states that during that trip a member of the Saudi Roya! Family
provided Bassnan with a significant amourt of cash. FBI nformation indicates that
Dassnan is an extremist and supporter of Usama Bin Ladin, and has been connected to the

Eritrean Islamic Jihad and the Blind Shaykh,

s Shaykh al-Thumairy. According to FB1 documents and a CIA memorandum, al-1lazmi
znd al-Mihdhar may have been in contact with Shaykh al-Thumairy, an accredited
diplomat af the Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles and one of the “imams” at the King
Fahad mosque in Culver City, Californie. Alse according to FEf documents, the mosque
wﬁs built in 1998 from funding provided by Saudi Arabia’s Crown Prince Abdulaziz.
The mosque is reportedly atiended by members of the Sandi Copsulate in Los Angeles

and is widely recognized for its anti-Westem views,
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e Saleh al-Hussayen. In September 2001, Saleh al-Hussayen, repertedly a Saudi Intenior
Ministry official, stayed at the same hotel in Hemdon, Virginia where al-Hazmi was
staying. While al-Hussayen claimed after Septernber 17 not to know the hijackers, FBI
agents believed he was being deceptive. He was able to depart the United States despite

FBI efforts 1o lecate and re-interview him; and

e Abdullah Bin Ladin, Abduilah Bin Ladin claims to work for the Saud: Embassy in
Washington, D.C. as an admimstiative officer. Iic is identified by the FBI as Usama Bin
Ladin's half brother. He is a close friend of Moharnmed Quadir-Harnani, a possible

associate of Mohammed Atta and Marwan al-Shehhi prior to September 11, 2001.

The Joint Inguiry alsc found other indications (hat individuals connected ta the Saudi

Govermument have ties o terrorist networks, including:

« The CLA and FBI have identified the Ton Tamiyah Mosque in Culver City as a site of
extremist-related activity. Several subjects of FBI investigations prior to Septereber 11
had close connections to the mosque and are believed ta have laundered money through
this mosque to non-profit organizations overseas affiliated with Usama Bin Ladin. In an
interview, an FBI agent said he belicved that Saudi Govemnment money was being

laundered throngh the mosque;
o r

«  Another Saudi national with close ties to the Saudi Royal Family, [ . s &
subject of FBI counterterrorism investigations and reportedly was checking security at
the United States’ southwest border in 1999 and discussing the possibility of infiltrating
individuals into the United States;

* According to FBI documents, several of the phone numbers found mn the phone hook of
Abu Zubeida, a senior al-Qz'ida operative captured m Pakistan in March 2002, could be
linked, at least indizectly, to telephone numbers in the United States, One of those U.S.

pumbers is subscribed o by the ASPCOL Corporation, which is located in Aspen,
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Colorado, and manages the affairs of the Colorado residence of the Saudi Ambassador
Bandar. The FBI noted that ASPCOL has an unlisted telephone number. A November
18, 2002 FBI response to the Joint Inquiry states that “CIA traces have revealed no direct
links between numbers found in Zubaida’s phone book and numbers in the United

States.”

4

o According ‘o sn FBI document, the telephone number of a bodyguard at the Saudi

Embassy in Washington, DC, who some have alleged may te 2 [
_ was aiso found in Abu Zubaida's possersions; and

= According to an FBI agent in Phoemx, the FBI suspects Mohammed al-Qudhacein of
heing— Al-Qudhacein was involved in & 1999 incident aboard
an Amenca West flight, which the FBI's Phoenix aflice now suspects may have been a
“dry run" to test airline security. During the flight, al-Qudhaeein and his associate asked
the flight attendants a variety of suspicious questions; z-Qudhaccin then uttempted to
enter the cockpit on two occssions, Al-Qudhacein and his associate were flying to
Washingion, D C. to attend a party at the Saudi Embassy, and both claimed that their
tickets were paid for by the Saudi Embassy. During the course of its investigations, the
FBI has discovered that both al-Qudhazein and the otker individual involved in this

ncident had connections to terronsm.

Finally, the Committees are particularly concerned about the serious nature of ellegations
contained in 2 C1A memorandum found by the Joint Inquiry Staff in the files of the FBI's San
Dicgo Field Office  That memorandum, which discusses alleged financial connections between
the September 11 hijackers, Sandi Government officials, and members of the Saudi Royal
Family, was drafted by 2 C1A office: [ N <!+ c pronarily on
information from FBI files. The CIA officer sent it to the CTC to determine whether CIA had
additional information. He zlso provided a copy 1o the FBI agent responsible for the
investigation of one of the individuals discussed in the memorandum. Despite the clear aational
implications of the CIA memorandum, the FBI agen: included the memorandum in an mdividual

case file and did not forward it to FBI Headquarters. FBI Headquarters, therefore, was unawace
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of statements in the memorandum untl the Joint Inquiry brought the memorandum's

mplicatious 1o the Bureau’s atenicn [

Possible Saudi Government Connections to Terrorists and Terrorist Groups

While in the United States, sote of the September 11 hijackers were in contact with, and
received support or assistance from, imdividvals who may he connecied to the Saudi
Govermment. There is information, fiow FBI suusces, that at least twe ol thuse individuals were
alleged 10 be Saudi intelligence officers. The Joint Inquiry’s review confirmed that the
Inielligence Community also has informetion, much of which remains speculative and yet o be
independently verified, indicating that Saudi Government officials in the United States may have

other ties (0 al-Qa’ida and other terrorist groups.

The Commiltees are particula:ly concerned about the serious nature of ailegations
contamned in a CLA memorandum found within the files of the FBI's San Dicgo Field Office
That memorandum, which discusses alleged financial connections between the September 11

hijackers, Saudi Government vfficials, and members of the Saudi Royal Family, was drafied by 2

c1a officer [ N . 1 -!yin¢ primacily on information from FBI files.

In their testimony before the Joint Inguiry, neither the CIA nor the FRI was able to
definitively identify for these Committecs the extent of Saudi support for temorist activity
globally or within the United States and the extent to which such suppori, if it exists, is
intentional or innocent in nature. Both the FBI and CIA have indicated to the Comunitices that

they are now aggressively pursuing Saudi-related terrorism issues.

Prior to September 11", the FBI appatently did not focus investigativijjjjj
R D
the United States due to Saudi Arabia's status as an American “ally”. | NS
B - rooceseatative of the FBI's [N - fi<d i closed
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Learings that, prior to September 11%, the FBI received “no reporting from any member of the

Intelligence Community” that there i 2 [ R pcsence in the United States.

it should be clear that this Joint Inquiry has made no final detenminations as io the
relizbility or sufficicncy of the information regarding these issucs that we found contained in FBI
und CLA documents. It was not the task of this Joint Inquiry to conduct the kind of extensive
investigation that would be required to determined the true sismficance of any such elleged
connections to the Szudi Government. On the one hand, it is possible that these kands ol
connections could suggest, as indicaied in a— daled July 2, 2002,
“incontrovertible evidence that there is support for these terrorists within the Saudi
Govemnment.” On the other hand, it is also possible that further investigation of these allegations

could reveal legitimate, and innocent, explanations for these associations.

Given the serious national security implications of this information, however, the
leadership of the Joint Inguiry is refeming the staff's compilation of relevant information to both
the FBI and the CIA for investigative review and appropriate investigative end inteiligence

action.

Possible Counections Between the September 11 Hijackers and Saudi Governmnent Officials
in the United States

In reviewing FBI documents and the CLA memorandum, the Joint Inguiry Staff has

examined information suggesting that:
1= -

= One individual who provided agsistance to Nawafl al-Hazmi and Khalid ai-Mibdhar may
be connected to the Szudi Govermment. A second individual who may heve been in
contact with al-Hazmi and Al-Mihdhar also has tics to the Saudi Government, including
conpections to the Sawdi Ambassador Lo the United States. There is reporning in FBI files
that persons have alleged that both of these individuals may be Saudi intelligence

officers;

I
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e The September 11 hijackers may have beea in contact with other Saudi Govemment

officials in the United States pnior to the September 11 attacks; and

e Saudi Government officials in the United States may have ties to Usama Bin Ladin's

terrorist network.

Omar al-Bayoumi and Osama Bassnan

Two individuals known to the FBI prior te September 11, 2001 - Omar al-Bayoumi and
Osama Bassnan — may have provided assistance or support lo ai-Hazmi and al-Mibdhar while the
two hijackers-to-be were living in San Diego. While the documentary evidence that al-Bayoumi
provided assistance (o al-1{azmi and al-Mihdhar is solid, the files contain only limited evidence

that Osama Bassnan had contacts with the two imdividuals.,

When al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar moved to San Diego, ai-Bayoumi provided them with
considerable assistance. Before the hijackers moved in with the long-time FBI informant, they
slayed at al-Bayoumi's apartracent for sevetal days until ail-Bayoumi was able to find them an
apartment. Al-Bayoumi then co-signed their lease and may have paid their first month’s rent and
seourity dcpcsit.l After al-Hazmi and zl-Mihdhar moved inta their own apartment, al-Bayoumi
threw a party to welcome them to the San Diego commurity. He also tasked Modhar Abdullah,
another individua! from the Islamic Center of San Diego (ICSD), to help them get acclimnated 1o
the United States. Abdullah served as their trauslator, helped them get drivers’ licenses, and
assisted them in loeating flight schools. [
EEEERERTEE T

' The FBI notzs, n its November 18, 2002 response that “finzncial records indicate 2 cash deposit of the same
amnount as the cashier's check into al-Bayoumi's bank account un the same day, whickh suggests that the hijackers
rermbursed hir" FBI November 18 Response, 3. However, another FBI docuinent, dated October 14, 2002,
appears (o reach a shigltly different conclusion This document states that “a review of Khalid Al-Mihdhar and
Mawaf Al-Hazmi's bank records indicate there is po bank documentation that supports the rzimbursement of [the
reat money), or any monies to Quoar Al-Bayoumi fiom al-Hazmi or Al-Midhar.”
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During ihe post-September 11 investigation, the FBI discovered that al-Bayoumi bad far
more extensive ties to the Saudi Government than previously realized. In fact, zecording to an
October 14, 2002 FBI document, al-Bayoumi has “exiensive lies to the Saudi Governrment.” The

connections identified by the FB1 are:

Al-Bayourni had been an accountant at the Saudi Civil Aviation Administration from

1976 1o 1993, when he relocated 1o the United States:

* Accordng to the FBI, al-Bayoumi was in frequent contact with the Emir at the Saud:

Ministry of Defense, responsible for air traffic control;

= The FBI has also located records, indicating that al-Bayoumi received 320,000 from

the Saudi Ministry of Finance at one point;

+ When al-Bayoumi applisd to schools in the United States in 1998, he had a letter
from the Saudi Embassy, which stated that he was getting 2 full scholarship fom the

Government of Saudi Arabia; and

=  While in San Diego, al-Bayourm was receiving moncy from the Saudi Ministry of
Defense through a Saudi company cailed “Ercan.” [ of th=: company
inforrned the FBI after September 11, 2001 that, althouzh zl-Bayoumi only showed
up at the company on one occasion, he received a monthly salary and allowances.
B i that, ot first, he attempted 10 refuss to pay al-Bayoumi 2 monthly
salary, but be was told that his company would lose their contract if he did not pay
mm. — infarmed the FRI that at the time, he attmhuted rhis to Saudi

corruption.

Al-Bayoumi also had frequent contact with Saudi establishmeats i the United States. In
areview of telephone toll records, the FBI leamned that al-Bayoumi called Saudi Government
establishments in the United States almost 100 times between January and May of 2000.

According to the FBI, al-Bayourmi was in contacl with at least three individuals at the Saud
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Fmbassy in Washinglon, DC; two individuals at the Saudi Arabian Cuitural Mission in
Washington, DC, and threz individuals at the Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles. In a search of

Bayoumi’s || G- . > 2'so discovered that he had the phone number for an

individual at the Saudi Consulate in London.

Two former San Diego a

ts addressed the issuc of whether al-Bayoumi was an
mtelligence officer at the October 9, 2002 closed hearing. The former case agent who handled

Muppet testified:

[Al-Bayoumi] acted like a Saud: intelligence officer, in my opimion. And if he was
invelved with the hijackers, winch it looks like he was, if he signed leases, iT he provided
somt sort of financing or payment of some soi, thea | would say that there's a clear
possibility that there might be a cannection between Saudi intelligence and UBL.

A former Assistant Special Agentin Chirge in San Diego testified that the FBI received
“numerous, L would say half 2 dozen” reports from individuals who bebieved that al-Bavoumi
was a Saudi intelligence officer. The FBI's Novernber 18" response is inconsistent as to whether
the FBI currently 1s designating al-Bayoumi as a suspected Saudi imtelligence officer. In s
response, the FBI notes that el-Bayowni — until after
September 117, but the response also states that “there is no evidence™ to conclude that al-

Bayoumi is a Saudi intelligence officer.

The FBI had received reporting fom a reliable source well prior to September 11, 2001
indieating that al-Bayoumi might be a Saudi intelligence officer. Al-Bayoumi was known to
hive access to laree amounts of maoney from Saudi Arabia, despite the fact that he did not appear
10 hold 2 job. On one occasion prior to September 11, the FB! recerved information that al-
Bavoumi had receved $400,000 trom Saud: Arabia to help fund a new mosque i S Diego.
Tl FRT conducted & counterterronsm iavestigation on al-Bayoumi in 1998 and 1999, but closed

the investigation at that point.
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Since September 11, 2001 FBI investigation revealed that al-Bayoumi has some tics to
terrorist elements. Pasquale J. D’ Amuro, the Executive Assistant Director for Counterterrorism

and Counterintelligence testified in the October 9, 2002 hearing that

[w]e've been talking with thc_ Goveminent about collection on an individual
named [l +ho has ties to 21-Qa'ida, who has ties to Bayoumi.

In addition, the FBI reported the results of their search ut"ul-Bayoum:"_ that,
“after an exhaustive transiations of Bayoumi’s documents, it 1s ciear that 1n Bayoumi's
contespondence he s providing gnidance to young Muslims and somc of his writings can be

interpreted as jihadist.”

According to information acquired by the FBI after September 11, 2001, al-Bayoumi also
noted on one of his school applications that he worked for a company calied “DallalyAveo.”
According to the FBI, Ercan is z San Diego subcontractor of Dallah/Aveo. According 1o a
separate -:locume:m. Dallah and Avco are under the same umbrelia company, Aveao Dallah
Traus Arab, which is a subsidiary of Al Barakaat Investinent and Development Company. Aveo
Dallzh reportedly holds the contracts for cleaning and maintenance at the three major airports in
Saudi Arabia. The - document states that _
the company has links to Usama Bin Ladin. FBI Headquarters was informed of the affiliation
between Dallab/Aveo and Al Barakaat in February 2001, but the San Diego Field Office

apparently never got this information.

According to FBI documents, al-Bayoumi's pay increased during the time that al-Hezmi
and al-Mihdhar were in the United States. According to a recent nalysis of ties between
the terronst attacks and elements of the Savdi Government, hefore al-Hazmi and al-Mildhar
arrived in the U.5,, al-Dayoumi generelly received approximately $465 per nmonth in
“allowances.” According tn the- document, in March 2000, &« month afier al-Hazmi and &l-
Mihdhar arrived in San Diego, his “allowances™ jumped to over 3700 & month and stayed
constant antil December 2000, when al-Hezmi lefi San Diego. Al-Bayoumi's allowances were
then decreased to approximately $3,200 a month and stayed at that rate until al-Bayoumi lefl the

United States in August 2001, approximately one month before the September 11 attacks.
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Tht-mcmor.mdum dated July 2, 2002, incorreetly noted that al-Bayoumi's wife,

while living in San Diego, was receiving $1200 a month from Princess Haifa Hint Suitan, the

wife of Prince Bandar, the Saudi Ambassador jo the United States. The FB1 has now confirmed

that only Osama Bassnan's wife received money directly from Prince Bandar's wife, but that al-

Bayoumi's wife attempted 1o deposit three of the checks from Prince Bandar's wife, which were

puyable to Bassnan's wife, into her own accounts.

The Joint Inquiry also found, in TBI files, information suggesting that Osama Bassnan

may have also been in contact with al-Mihdhar and al-Hazmi, including:

Bassnan was a very close associate of Omar al-Bayoumi’s and was in telephone
contact with ai-Bayoumi several umes a day while they were both in San Dicgo.
Bassnan also hus close ties to 2 number of other individuals connected to the
hijackers, including Omar Bakarbashat, discussed below, who is referrad 1o m FBI

documents as Bassnan's brother-in-law;

According to an Qctober 16, 2001 FBI document, Bassnan informed an asset that he
had met Nawaf al-Hazmi through al-Bayoumi. He went on o say that he met two of
the nineteen hijackers through Omar al-Bayoumi. According 1o the FBI document, he
also tald the asset thit al-Bayoumi was arrested because he knew al-Hazmi and al-
Mihdhar very well, The document gozs on o state that Bassnan and al-Bayoumi
have been “close to each other for a long tme ™

Bassnan lived in the apartment complex in San Diego across the street from al-Haemn

and al-Mihdhur,

Bassnan made 2 comment to an FBI source after the September 11 attacks suggestin

=

that he did more for the hijackers than al-Bavoums? did;
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» 'The FBI is aware of contect hetween the hijackers and a close friend of Bassnan’s,
Khaled al-Kayed, a commercial airline pilot and certified flight instructor living
San Diege. Al-Kayed admitted to the FBI that in May 2000, al Mihdhar and al-

Hazmi contacted him about learning to fly Boeing jet aircraft;

FBI documents speculate that Osama Bassnan [
I B T FEI's Novenber 18, 2002 response contends that this was
an early investigative theory based on asset reporting which the FBI has not been able to
comoborate. However, there is also additional information possibly tying Bassnan iR
B 1o 1992, while he was living in Washington, DC, Bassnan listed his employment as
fae Saudi Arabian Education Mission. FBI documents state that | N
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Bassnan zlso has other ties to the Saudi Government. Bassnan's wafe received = monthly
stipend from Princess Haifa. In 2 recent search of Bassnan's residence, the FBI located copies of
31 cashiers checks totaling $74,000, during the period February 22, 1999 10 May 30, 2602
These checks were payable 1o Bassnan's wife and were drawn on the Riggs Bank account of
Prince Bandar's wife. The FBI has determined that there has been a standing order on Princess
Haifa's account since January 1999 to send $2000 a month to Bassnan's wife. Bassnan's wife
was alleged)y receiving the funding for “nursing services,” but, according to the - docurnent,
there {5 1o evidence that Bassnan's wife provided nursing services. [ RS
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On at least one occasion, Bassnan received a check directly from Prince Bundar's
acoount. According to the FBI, on May 14, 1998, Bassnan cashed a check from Bandar in the
amount of $15,000. Bassnan's wife also received at least on= check directly from Bandar. She
also received one additional check from-Bandar's wife, which she cashed on January 8, 1998, for
$10.,000.
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In the October 9, 2002 hearing FBI Executive Assistant Director D’Amuro commented

on this funding:

1 believe that we do have money going from Bandar's wife, 32,000 2 month up fo about
564,000, What the money was for is what we don’t know."”

[Fos s TR R e PN T AR

. She gives meney to a2
lot of different groups and people Fom around the world. We've been able to uncover &
number of these,. .but meybe if we can discover that she gives to 20 different radical
groups, well, gee, maybe there's a pattern here.

The FBI has also developed additional information clearly indicating that Bassnan is an
extremist and supporter of Usama Bin Ladin. In 1993, the FBI became aware that Bassnan had
hosted a party for the Blind Shaykh at his house in Washington, DC in October 1992. Bassnen
kas made many laudatory remarks to FBI assets about Bin Ladin, referring to Bin Ladin as the
oificial Khalifate and the ruler of the Islamic world, According to an FBI asset, Bassnau spoke
of Bin Ladin “as ifhe were a god.” Bassnan alsc stated to an FBI1 asset that he heard that the
U.S. Governunent had stopped approving visas for foreign students. Ue considered such
messures to be insufficiant as there are already enough Muslims m the United States to desiroy
the United States and make it an Islamic state within ten to fifieen years. According to FBI
documents, Bassnan also knew Bin Ladin's family in Saudi Arabia znd speaks on his mobile

telephone with members of the family who are living in the United States.

Plione Numbers Linking Abu Zubaida te 2 Company ia the United States and a Saudi
Diplomat in Washington

On March 28, 2002 U.S. and coalition forces retrieved the telephone book of Abu
Zubaida, whom the U.S. Government has identified s a scuior al-Qa’ida operational
coordinater  According to an FBI document, “a review of roll records has linked several of the
nurnbers found in Zabaida's phonebook with U.S. phone aumbers.” One of the numbers 1s

unlisted and subscribed to by the ASPCOL Corporation in Aspen, Colorade. On July 15, 2002,
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FBI Headquaners sent a lead to the Denver Field Office requesting that 1t investigate this
connection. On September 19, 2002 agents of the Denver Field Office responded, stating thal

they had completed their initial investigation,

According to the FBI's Denver Office, ASPCOL 1s the umbrelia corporation that
manages ihe affairs of the Colorado residence of Prince Bandar, the Saudi ambassador to the
United States. The facility is protected by Scimitar Sccurity. Agents of the Denver Field Office
noted that neither ASPCOL nor Scimitar Security is listed in the phone bock or is easily
locatable. In sddition, the Colorndo Sceretory of State’s office hus ne record cf ASPCOL. The
Denver office did not attempt to make any local inquiries about ASPCOL, as they believed that
any inquiries regarding ASPCOL would be quickly known by Prince Bandar’s employees. Due
to the sensitivity of this matter, they decided to hold their investigation of ASPCOL in abeyance

until they received additional guidance from FBI Headquarters.

According to the FBI, the phone munber of an individual named _ of
MeLean, Virginia was found within the effects of Abu Zubaida. [ s reportedly 2
bodyguard at the Saudi Embassy in Washingtun, DC. The FEI now suspects thathe may be a
B - Scriomber 17, 2002 document, the FBI notes that the Burazu is
opening an investigation on [ due o the size and value of his residence and his suspicious
activity in approaching 1.S. Intelligence Community personmel. It alee zppears tha (N
has been in contact with [ i is located
_. in McLean, Virginia. The FBI has identifizd this address as the address of
Frince Bandar. According to the FBI, [ is officiully a driver for the Saudi Embassy.
B e was also linked to ASPCOL, Prince Baudar's wnbrella company located in

Colorado.

1t should be noted that the FBI's November 18, 2002 response states that “CIA aces
have revealed no direct (emphasis added) links between numbers found in Zubaida's phone book

and numbers in the United States.”
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The U.S, Govemnment also located another Virginia number at an Usama Bin Ladin
safehouse in Pakistan. The number is subscribed to by an individual named [ RGN
B o inicrvicwed by the FETin June
2002. He could not explain why his number ended up at a safehouse in Pakistan, but stated that
he regularly provides services to 2 couple whe are personal assistants ©© Prince Bandar. This
couple's dnver is an individual named [ . oo s assigncd to the Saudi
Embassy in Washington, DC. According to [ rzuiarly caled NG

business and frequently travels back and forth to Pakistan.

Other Saudi Government Officials in the United States Who May Have Been in Contact
with the September 11 Hijackers

Among the indivniduals who may have been associates of the al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar
was Shayih al-Thumairy. According to thc-mcmorandnm reviewed by the Joint Inguiry
Staff, “initial indications are that al-Thumairy may have had 2 physical or financial connection
al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar, but we are still looking at this possibility.” Al-Thumairy is an
accredited diplomat at the Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles and is also considered one of the
“imarus’ at the King Fahad Mosgue in Culver City, Californiz. [ R
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According to FBI documents, the King Fahad mosque was built in 1898 from funding
from the Saudi Arabian Crown Prince Abdulaziz. The mosque is attended by members of the
Saudi Consulate in Los Angeles and 1s widely known for its anti-Weslern views, FBI
documents indicate that Mohdhar Abdullah drove al-Hazmi and al-Mihdhar to the King Fahad

Mosque. before al-Mihdhar rewnmed to Saudi Arabia.

Several individuals on the East Coast whem the hijackers may have met may also had
comnections to the Saudi Government. After the terronist attacks, the FBI discovered that, during
September 2001, an individual named Saleh al-Hussayen stayed at the same hote! in Herndor,
Virginia where al-Hazmi was staying at the time. According to FBI documents al-Hussayen is

apparently a “Saudi Interior Ministry employee/official” He claimed not to know the hijackers,
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but agents in the FBI's Washington Field Office believed he was being deseptive. The interview
was terminated when al-Hussayen either passed out or feigned & seizure requiring medical
ireatment. He was released from the hospital several days later and managed to depart the

United States despite law enforcement efforts to locate and re-interview him.

Salch al-Hussayen is the uncle of Sami Omar al-Hussayen. Sami al-Hussayen is
connecied to the Islamic Assembly of North America (TANA) and is the subject of an FBI
counterterrorism investigation. The FBI has also discovered that Saleh al-Hussayen is a major
contribuor o the JANA, a non-profit organization based in Michigan thar is dedicated 10 the
spread of Islam worldwide. According to the FRI, the IANA's mission is actually to spread
Islamic fundamentalism and Salafist doctrine throughout the Umited States 2nd the world at
large. The IANA solicits funds from wealthy Saudi benefactors, extrentist islamic Shaykhs, and
suspect non-govemmental organizations. Accorcéing to FBI documents, IANA has solicited
money from Pnnce Bandar, but the documents are unclear as to whether Bandar actually

contributed money to this organization.

FBI documents also indicate that several Saud: Neval officers wers 1 contact with the
September 11 hijackers. FBI documents state that the San Dicgo Field Office opened &
counterterrorism investigation on an individual named Osama Nooh, @ Saudi Naval officer, due
w his association with Nawaf al-Hazmi and Khalid al-Mihdher. ln addition, Lafi al-Harbi,
another Szudi Naval officer, was in telephonic contact with flight 77 hijackers Khalid al-Mihdhar

and Nawaf al-llazmi on nine occasions from March 11, 2000 to March 27, 2000.

The Jacksonville FBI Field Office is conducting an investigation o determine whether
Saleh Ahmed Bedarwi, 2 Saudi Naval officer within its territory was in contact with any of the
e R R R T
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The FBI has also discovered some more tenuous cannections betwesn Saudi Government
personnel and the hijackers during the course of the PENTIBOM investigation. For example,
according to the FBI, an individual named Fahiad Abdullah Saleh Bakala was close friends with
September 11 hijackers Aluned al-Ghamdi and Humza al-Ghamdi. Bakala previously “worked
as 2 pilot for the Saudi Royal farnily, flving Usama Bin Ladin between Afghanistan and Saudi
Arabia during UBL's exile.”” In addition, an FBI source stated after Seplember 11 that he/she
was 50% sure that al-Mihdhar was a visitor at an apartment in McLean, Virginia that was
oecupied in July and August 2001 by Hamad Alotaibi of the Szudi Embassy Military Division.
FBI documents also note thzt September 11 hizacker Saeed Aighamdi may have also visited the
address.

Connections Between Saudi Government Qfficials in the United States and Other Possible
"Tarrorist Operatives

The Joint Inquiry also reviewed information in FBI files, suggesting other possible

connections between Saudi Government officials and terronist operatives.

For example, according 1o FBI documents, there is evidence that hijackers Marwan zl-
Shehhi and Mohammed Atta were in contact with Mohammed Rafique Quadir Harunani, the
subject of an FBI counterterrorism investigation since 1999 and a close associate of Abdullah
Bin Ladin, who is referred 1o in FBI documents as Usama Bin Ladin's half brother. Agduliah
Bin Ladin, who is the subject of several FBI investigations, is currently in the United States|fJj}
£ R R R i I
the Saudi Arabian Embassy in Washington, DC as an administrative officer. Abdullzh Bin Ladin
has financed Quadir's company and is listed by Quadir as the emergency contact for Quadir's

children. They are i frequent email and phone contact as well
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According to the FBI, Abdullah Bin Ladin has 2 number of connections to terronst
organizations. He 15 the President und Director of the Werld Arab Muslim Youth Association
(WAMY) and the Institute of [slamic and Arabic Sciences in America. Both organizations are
local branches of non-govemmental organizations (NGOs) based in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
According o the FBI, there is rezson Lo believe that WAMY is “closely associated with the
funding and financing of international terronst activities and in the past has provided logistical
support to individeals wishing to fight in the Afghan War." In 1998, the C1A published a paper
characterizing WAMY es 2 NGO that provides funding, logistical support and training with
possibie connections to the Arab Atghans network, Hamas, Algenan exiremists, nd Philippine

gy ]
militants. ©

Also of potentiz! interest, at least in retrospect, is the 1999 incident invelving Mohammed
al-Qudhaeein and Hamdzan al-Shalawi. Al-Qudhasein and al-Shalawi were flying from Phoenix
to Washingtor, DC to attend a party at the Saudi Embassy. Afier they boarded the plane in
Phoenix, they began asking the fight attendants technical questions about the flight that the
flight attendants found suspicious. When the plane was in flight, al-Qudhaeein asked where the
hathroom was; one of the flight attendants pointed him to the back of the plane. Nevertheless,
al-Qudhacein went to the front of the plane and attempted on two occasions (o enter the cockpit.
‘The plane made an emergency landing and the FBI investigated the incident, but decided not to
pursuc a prosecution. At the time, 21-Qudhacein and al-Shalawi claimed that the Saudi Embassy

paid for their airplane tickets.

After the FBI discovered that an individual in Phoenix whoe was the subject of a
counterterrorism investigation was driving z!-Shalawi's car, the Bureau opened 2
countesterrorisct investigation on al-Shalawi. In November 2000, the FBI received reporiing
from [ that 21-Shelawi had trained at the terrorist camps in Afghanistan and had
received explosives training to perform “Khobar Towers"-type atlacks. Alter the September 11,
2001 attacks, the Phoenix Field Office attached even potentially preater significance to that 15999

incident. A Phosnix FBI communication explained the theory behind this: “Phoenix FBI now

¥ Aceording to the FBI's November 18, 2002 response, although several officials in WAMY support 21-Qa’idz and
other terzonst graups, the intelligence is insufficient to show whether the orgamzation as a wliole and its seruor
leadership suppont temunsm,
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belicves both men were specifically attempting to test the security procedures of America West

Aurlines in preparation for and in furtherance of UBL/Al Qaeds operations.”

In testimony before the Joint Inquiry, the agent who drafted the “Phoenix EC” stated:

In a post 9/11 warld, 1 went back and looked at that as possibly being some sort of dry
run. It is currently under investigation.

After September 11, 2001, al-Qudbaccin [N

In interviews, 2 Phoenix FBI agent stated that Phoenix [
believed that al-Qudhaeein might be [ EEGEGEEE s r:ofic s similar to that of
al-Bayoumi and Bassnan. He is in the United States as a student and does not have a visible
means of income. He is in frequent contact with Saudi Government estzhiishments in the United
States and appears to be very involved in the affairs of the local Saudi community. He runs =
“Saudi Club" in Phoenix, and assists Seudi students in the area. The FRI has elso developed
information that al-Qudhaeein was receiving money from the Saudi Government but, as of
August 2002, had not obtained the relevant bank records for review. The FBI's Phoenix Field

Office has speculated that al-Qudhaeein and others may be _.

There are other indications in FBT files that elements of the Saud! Govermunent may have
provided suppart to terorist networks. Far example, the FBI had identified the Ton Tamiyah
Mosque in Culver City as a site of extremist-related activity both before and afier September 11.
Several subjects of San Diego investigation prior to September 11 had close connections to the
mosgque. Based on interviews and review of FBI files, San Diego FBI zgents believed at the time
that these subjects were lzundering money through this mosque first to Somali nen-profit

organizations a2nd then to other entities affilinled with Usama Bin Ladin
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In approximately 1998, the FBI became aware of millions of dollars in wire transiers
fram the Somali community in San Diego to Al Barakast Trading Company and other businesses
affiliated with Usama Bin Ladin. At the time, the funding appeared ta be originating from the
local Somali community in the form of donations to various Somali non-profits. Ilowever, the
FBI now belicves that the some of the funding actually originated fom Saudi Arabia and that
both the Ibn Tamiyah Mosque in Los Angeles and the Islarmc Center of San Diego were
involved in laundering the money.

According to the former FB] agent in Sau Dicgo whio was involved in this uivestigation,
this scheme may allow the Saudi Government tp provide 3l-Qa’ida with funding through covert
or indirect means. In his October 9, 2002 testimony the forer agent comented on the possible

money laundering:

My guess Saudi-it’s connected somehow with the Saudis. And knowing that probably

70-80 percent of the population of Saudi Arabia support Usama Bin Ladin, it might be an

indication.

There are also indications of Saudi governmental suppor for terrorist activity through
charitable organizations. The Saudi-based Umm al-Qura Istamic Chanitable Foundation (UQ) 15
an Isiamnic non-governmental organization linked to terrorist support activities. According to a
May 2002 Defense Intelligence Terrorism Sununary, the UQ’s activities in support of terrorism
include: suspicious money transfers, document forgery, providing jobs to wanted terrorist
suspects, aud financing travel for youths 10 attend jihad training. The Defense communication
notes that since September 2001, UQ couriers have transported over $330,000 in cash, most of
which they received from Saudi Emnbassies in the Far East. In January 2002, UQ administrator
Yassir FI-Sayid Mohammed traveled to Thailand to pick up approximately $200,000 from the
Saudi Embassy in Bangkok. In early November 2001, the personal assistant to the UQ
edministrator traveled to Kuala Lumpur for 2 meeting at the Saudi Arabian Embassy. He
returned with tens of thousands of dollars, according te the Department of Defense.

CIA, Treasury, and FBI officials have all expressed their concern about the al-Haramain

Foundation’s ties to both the Saudi Government and terrorist activity. According to the FBI's
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November 18, 2002 response, the al-Haramain Islamic Foundation (FHIF) has clear ties to the
Saudi Government, and intelligence reperting suggests it is providing financial and logistical
support to al-Qz'ida. In 1993, HIF established its U.S.-based office in Ashland, Oregon, and thet
office has since received approsumately §700,000 from the parent offices in Saudi Arabia. The
FBI has a pending investigation of HIF and the activitics of the Portland HIF Office. As
discussed above, the FBI has located correspondence between al-Bayoumi and the HIIF. From
the documents, it is clear that HIF was interested in appointing the nunam of the mosque in Cajon,

Califorme, that al-Bayoumi managed.
The Treasury Generul Counsel iestified about his agency’s concern about the foundation:

MR. AUFHAUSER: Second, and this is importaat point, it also nises out of Rick's
testimony, on 2l-Haramain, the two branch offices that we took z public and joint actioa
against, al-Haramain really docs represent a significant issue for the FCC and for temrorist
financing and for the United States policy. It is, of course, the largest, 1 think the largest
Islamic charity in the world. Its name is synonymous with charity in the Islamic world.
Its direct overssers are members of the Royal Family; significant contributors are
members of the Royal Family. We don't have a great deal of intalligence on the
headgquarters, about whether they are knowingly assisting peopie in al-Qa'ide and others;
but in significant branch offices yet to be designated and under current investigation, we
have ample evidence that large cash amounts are being couriered to those branch offices,
that large wire wansfers of money are being sent te those offices, that a great dea! of the
moncy is being dissipated through misspending, unaccounted for, and finally, that those
offices have significant contacts with extremists, Islamic extrernists.

CIA officials recently testified that they are making progress on their investigations of al-

Heramein:

A year ago we had 2 lot of reponting suggesting branch offices were tied 1o al-
Qa’ida...Over the last year we developed a lot of intzlligence and law enforcement
information and we prepared a paper sbout a month, six weeks ago which assembled all
of that... That paper gave us the first ciear indication that the head of the central office 1s
complicit in supporting terrorism, and it &lso raised questions about Prince Nayef.

Finally, _I the subject of Phoenix and Portland FBI counterterrorism
investigations, also hus close ties to 2 member of the Seudi royal family. [N no longer

resides in the United States, but is still the subject of an FBI investigation. The FBI opened an

a
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investigation of [l 2n cmployec of Saudi Arabian Airlines, in 1999 after receiving
information. [ t:::t 5in Ladin lLisutenant Abu Zubaida had been
in contact with a telephone number essociated with [l i» Portland. In May 2001, two
individuals were arrested in Bahrain and later admitted they were on their way to blow vp U.S
facilitics in Saudi Arabia. One of them had a passport that had been isszed to one of [
I : B1's Phoenix Field Office also received source reporting in 1999 that -
was checking security al the Southwest border and discussing the possibility of infiltrating

1ndividuals into the United States,

The FBI has developed information that [l bas close ties with one of the Saudi
princes and accompanies him on many trips, including travel to the United States. According lo
the FEL, [ - : cccntly interrogated at the detention facility at
Guantanamo Bay. He informed the FBI that [ 2ot the job at Saudi Arabian Airlines through
his contacts. He said h:n- did not eam much money in thisjob, bur that he “had another
source of income through 2 Saudi prince” named Khalid al-Bandar. According to ||| R
B 1 :ciorncd miscellanesus tasks for the Prince, such as handling real estats muters
and assisting the Prince's grandmother. - traveled many places with the Prince, including
Europe, and often to the United Arab Emirates. ||| | | SN «24c the ayptic comment
that nobody “‘knew everything abouwt " Althouvgh his name was on the State
Department's watchlist, _ was apparently able to circumvent the Customs Service
and the Immigration and Naturalization Service because he was traveling with the Saudi prince.
The FBI only leamned of the trip afier the fact. Agents in the FBI's Portland Field Offics
expressed their concern that [ 2nd cthers were using their status as Saudi Arabian
Alrlines employees as & cover to enable them to transport weapons in and out of the United

i

States.
Lack of Saudi Cooperation in Counterterrorism Investigations
In testimony and interviews, a nummber of FBI agents and CIA officers complained to the

Joint Inquiry about a lack of Suudi cooperation in terrorism investigations both before and after

the September 11 attacks. For example, a veteran New York FBI agent stated that, from his
P ple, £
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point of view, the Saudis have been useless and obstructionist for years. In this agent's opinion,
the Saudis will only act when it is in their self-interest.

When a high-level - officer was asked how the Scptember 11 attacks might have been
prevented, he cited greater Saudi cooperation, pointing to an example from the summer of 2001,
when the U.S. Government requested Saudi assistance, with po success. In May 2001, the U.S.
Government became aware that an individual in Saudi Arabia was in contuct witk Abu Zubaida
and was most likely aware of an upcoming al-Qa'ida operation. The U.S. Governmen: pressured
tac Ssudi Govamnment to locate him. The Saudis informed tho U.S. Government thut they
required additional information to do so. The U.S Government agency that had originally
leamed of this individual's knowlcdge refused to provide the Saudis with additional information
because it would reveal sources and methods. The National Security Council also tried to
pressure the Saudis, but the Saudis would not cooperate without (he additional information.

According to some FBI personnel, this type of response is typical from the Saudis. For
example, one FBI agent described ane investigation after September 11 in which he provided the
Saudi Government with copies of the subjects’ Saudi passports. The Saudi Goverrunent
maintained that they had no record of the subjects.

According to the former Chicfof Alec Station, the unit in the DCI's Counterterronst
Center cstablished in 1996 to focus specifically on Usama Bin Ladic, it was clear from about
1996 that the Saudi Government would not cooperate with the United States on matters relating
1o Usama Bin Ladin. There is a May 1996 memo from the DCI's Counterterrorist Ceater (i}
[ stating that the Saudis had stopped providing background informution or other assistance on
Bin Ladin because Bin Ladin had *“too much information about official Saudi dealings with
Islamic extremists io the 1980s for Riyadh 1o deliver him into U.S. hands.” In a June 1997
memo to the DCL, Alec Station reemphasized the lack of Saudi cooperation and stated that there
was little prospect of future cooperation regarding Bin Ladin. The former Chief of Alec Station
thought that the U.S. Government’s hope of eventually obtaining Saudi cgoperation was
unrealistic because Saudi assistance to the U.S. Government on this matter was contrary to Saudi
national interests.
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N (i icd on this issue on October 9,

-On the issue of al-Qa'ida and Saudi intelligence, that goes back o our efforts to interact
with the Saudi to get them to help us or investigating al-Qa'ida. .. for the most part it was
a very troubled relationship where the Saudis were not providing us guickly or very
vigorously with response to it. Sometimes they did, many times they didn’t. It was just
very slaw in coming.

Both FBI and CILA personnel cited an individual named Madani al-Tayyib as a specific
case in which the Saudis were uncooperative. The CIA and the Bl bad been pressuring the
Saudis for years for permission to talk to al-Tayyib. According 1o the former head of ALEC
Station, ai-Tayyib managed all of Bin Ladin's finances when Bin Ladin was in Sudan, and any
experse over $1,000 had to he approved by al-Tayvib. Al-Tayyib moved to London in 1996 to
work with Khalid al-Fawwaz, another important al-Qa’ida figurc who has since been arrested. In
the summer of 1996, al-Tayyab retumed 1o Saudi Arabia. The Saudis continuously refused the
EDI's and the C1A's requests to talk ‘o al-Tayyib, stating, in the words of an FBI agent, that al-
Tayyib was “just a poor man who lost his leg. He doesn’t know anything.”

The former chief of Alec Station also cited the example of Mobammed Jamial Khalifa.
Khalifa is Bin Ladin's brother-in-law and an important figure in al-Qa'ida. The U.S.
Govemnment arrested Khalifz in the United States in 1994, Khalifa had been: sentonced (o death
in absentia by the Jordanian Governrneat for his role in a bornbing in Jordan. As a result, the
U.S. agreed to extradite him to Jordan. The Jordanians then retrmed him to Saudi Ambi.a_ In the
opinion of the CIA officer, the Saudis "bought off” the Jordanians for the return of Khalifa.
According to the CIA officer, when Khalifa subsequently armived in Saudi Arabia, he was met by
at least one fmportant government official. Khalifa naw works for a Riyadh-hased NGO and
travels and operates frecly.

The General Counsel of the U.S. Treasury Department testified at the July 23, 2002
hearing about the lack of Saudi cooperation with the U.S.:

i
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There is an almost intuitive sense, however, that things are not being volunteered. So I
want 1o fully inform you about it, that we have to ask and we have to seck and we have ©
strive, Twill give you one-and-a-hall examples. The fisst is, after some pedod, the Saudis
have agreed to the designation of 2 man named Julaydin, who 15 notoriously involved in
all of this; and his designation will be public within the next 10 days. They came forward
1o us 2 weeks ago and said, okay, we think we should go forward with the designation
and 2 freeze order against Mr. Julaydin. We asked, what do you have on him? Because
they certainly know what we have on him, because we shared it a5 we tried to convince
them that they ought to join us. The answer back was, nothing new.

MR. BEREUTER: Do you believe that?

MR. AUFHAUSER: No, ] think that taxes credulity, or there is another motive we are not

being told.

Status of the U.S. Iutelligence Community’s Investigations into Connections Between
Terrorism and Saudi Government Officials

Both the FBI and the CIA have informed the Committees that they are treating the Saudi

issue seriously. According to the November 18, 2002 FBI response, the FBI and ClA have

established a working group to look into the Saudi issue. The FBI formed a squad at the

Washington Field Otfice | N (o investicate this issue and [
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However, both the FBI and the CIA sull have only a limited uaderstanding of the Saudi
Govemment's ties to terrorist elements. In the October 9, 2002 closed hearing, Director Mueller

siated:

If [ have one preliminary note of caution, it is that at this poiat there are more questions

than answers, and 1 would caution against jumping to conclusions before we know a lot

more.

A docurnent located by the Joint Inquiry Staff confirms that the FBI's Washington Field
Office is 5till in the early stages of [ocusing on these investigations, In an August 15, 2002,
communication, a field office 2gent stated that ‘[
that same document, the Washington Field Office a.';kcd_
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testimony that th understanding of this issue is limited as well:
g

.n

With regard to the specific question of have we seen the Saudi intelligence services
supporting terror groups, I think the record is not clear at ail on that.

Both the FBI and CIA recognized the possibility that individuals connected to the Saudi

Govemnment may be providing support to terrorists.

B

So there is certainly 2 good, good chance that there are sympathizers ur extremists,
sympathizers possibly for al-Qa’ida within the security services.

— also noted that:

Abu Zubgzydah said he's confident that al-Qa’ida mus: have contact certainly with Saudis
in the United States and that al-Qa'ida and Usama Bin Ladin arc partcularly— they
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invest significant energy in cultivating whal Abu Zubaydah called goad relutionships
with Saudis of all standing.. .He said bin Ladin 1s very pleased when Saudis in the
military, those successful in business and those close to the royzl family to lend active
support to his cause. He said bin Ludin actively seeks out such relationships

ther CLA and FBI ofiicials echoed these remarks in recent Congressional testimony.

I N o

What we find troubling about the cases that we learmed about from FBI, hoth the Los
Angeles cases and some of the cases that the Washington Field Office hias looked at, in
which you're seeing Saudi money gomg to people, is that it fits sort of a pattern that
we've seen in terms of direct payments from the Saudis, the Saudi Government's
longstanding support for very fundamentalist Wahabi and Salafi charitics and movements
around the world, which in a sense you see the money is going to fundamentalists and
you wonld be very surprised if some of it doesn’t bleed over into terronst
support...We've had a lot of suspicions before September 11 which we documented in a
number of different papers, and again it's 2 lot of smoke and the issues that come up are
who knews about the payments, on whose behalf are the payments being made, are they
being made on behalf of the central government or are they being made by a local official
oraperson. Do the people who are making the payments know what’s happening to the
money? 1f they do know what's happening, why are they making the payments? Isita
form of blackmail? Do they recognize the terrorist support? There's the issue of are they
regulating themselves as well as are they doing the due diligence that they ought 1o.

FBI Executive Assistant Director Pasquale D' Amuro testified at that same hearing:

To date I can't sit here and tell you that those ties go back, that we can prove that the
Saudi royal family is sponsoring terrorism. But there’s cnough smoke that we are
coaducting several investigations to try to determine what other information is out there.

What is clear is that the FBI did not treat the Saudis s a countcﬁcrrurisrn.

B ot onor to September 11, 2001
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Michael Rolince, the former head of the International Terrorism Operations Section at

FBI testified:

The answer to your question 15 pre-9/11 there were not any significant preliminary
inquiry or full investigations, with relatively few exceptions, conducted by the FBI
looking at Saudi or support to terrorism...I'm not going to stand
here, Ms. Hill, and tell you in any way, shape or form

The former Assistant Special Agent in Charge in San Dicgo confirmed this in his

testunony:

e R R T A
were not 2 country identified by the Statz Department as a state sponsor of terorism.

And the theme or the common modus operandi that we saw in San Diego was that if there
were [ thc:¢. their primary objective was to monitor dissidents in the
interest of protecting the royal family. So they were not viewed as an inimical threat to
national secunty,

In the Qctober 9, 2002 closed hearing, Director Muslier acknowiedged that he became
awarc of some of the facts regarding the Saudi issue only es a result of the investigative work of

the Joint Inquiry Staff:

I'm saying the sequence of events here, [ think the staff probed znd, 25 a result of the
probing, some facts came to light here and to me, frankly, that had not come to light
before, and perhaps would not have come to light had the staff not probed. That's what
I'm telling you. So I'm agrecing with you that the staff probing brought out facts that
may not have come to this Committes.”

Scnator Dewinc: But what you're also saying, though, is that that probing then brought

facts to your attention.

Director Mueller: Yes.




